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JOHN R G BSON, Circuit Judge.

The United States Departnent of Labor and its
Secretary appeal from an order of the district court
granting attorneys' fees to Rapid Robert's, Inc. as a
result of the district court setting aside an order of
the Secretary of the United States Departnent of Labor
assessi ng penalties against Rapid Robert's for violation



of the Enpl oyee Pol ygraph Protection Act, 29 U S.C 88§
2001- 2009 (1988), and inplenmenting



regul ations. The Secretary concedes that Rapid Robert's
was the prevailing party in the litigation on the nerits,
but argues the district court erred in holding that the
Departnent's position was not substantially justified,
and in awarding fees. W decline to address the issue of
substantial justification and instead hold that speci al
circunstances exist which would mke the award of
attorneys' fees unjust. Accordingly, we reverse.

In 1990, Rapid Robert's perforned fifteen polygraph
exam nati ons of enpl oyees, testing five enployees on
March 10, May 31, and June 11. Rapid Robert's expl ai ned
t hat It performed the polygraphs to investigate
hei ghtened inventory |osses occurring close to those
dat es. The Departnent of Labor sought penalties from
Rapi d Robert's, claimng that the pol ygraph exam nati ons
vi ol ated the Enpl oyee Pol ygraph Protection Act.

This Act, which was enacted June 27, 1988, becane
effective six nonths follow ng that date on Decenber 27,
1988. Congress had directed the Secretary of Labor to
I ssue rules and regulations not later than ninety days
after June 27, 1988, or Septenber 25, 1988. The interim
final regul ations, however, were actually pronul gated on
Oct ober 21, 1988, with coments requested on or before
February 27, 1989. The final regulations were eventually
pronmul gated three years later on March 4, 1991, wth the
effective date of April 3, 1991.

The Departnent conducted an investigation, issued a
notice of violation, and assessed a $74,000 penalty.
Rapi d Robert's denied the violations and requested an
adm ni strative hearing.



The ALJ found that Rapid Robert's had nade a good
faith effort to conply with the Act and had not
termnated any enployees based on the polygraph
exam nati ons.



Al though it found Rapid Robert's and its President,
Robert WIlson, liable for violating the Act, it reduced
the penalty to $26, 000.1

Al parties appealed the ALJ's decision to the
Secretary. The Secretary affirmed the $26,000 penalty,
al though articulating sonmewhat different reasoning.
Further, the Secretary rejected the ALJ's exception not
to hold WIlson personally liable and placed liability
upon Wl son as an enpl oyer under 8§ 2001(2).

Rapi d Robert's then sought review of the Secretary's
decision in the district court. Rapi d Robert's argued
that the Secretary's decision was unlawful because the
Departnent of Labor inplenented the controlling interim
regul ati ons wi thout notice or the opportunity for public
coment in violation of the Adm nistrative Procedure Act,
5 US C 8§ 551, as well as the Fifth and Fourteenth
Amendnent s of t he Uni t ed St at es Constitution.
Additional ly, Rapid Robert's clained that the Departnent
failed to provide technical assistance as required by the

'Specificaly, the ALJ found that Rapid Robert's failed to give proper notice
according to 29 U.S.C. § 2006(d)(4). The amount assessed for violation of 29
U.S.C. § 2006(d) was reduced to $500 for each of eight incidentsin which the
notices provided to employees did not comply with the content requirements set
forth in 8 2006(d)(4). The ALJ assessed $1000 for each of seven incidentsin which
the notices not only contained insufficient content but also were not provided to
employees at least forty-eight hours before testing. The ALJ upheld the penalty of
$1,500 assessed for each of six counts of unlawfully threatening to discipline
employees refusing to submit to polygraph testing in violation of 29 U.S.C. §
2002(3)(A). With respect to the unlawful suspension of three employees, the ALJ
reduced the $22,000 in penalties for violations of 29 U.S.C. 88 2002(3)(A) and
2002(4)(C) to a penalty of $2000 for each of the three violations.
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Act, that WIson was not an enpl oyer under the Act, and

t hat it conducted the polygraph examnations in
accordance wth the ongoing investigation exenption in 29
US.C § 2006(d). Rapid Robert's prayed that the

decision of the Secretary and the admnistrative |aw
j udge be reversed and set



aside, and that it be awarded its attorneys' fees. As
a result, the district court dismssed the enforcenent
action.

The court held that it was undisputed that the
Departnent brought the enforcenent action under the
interimfinal regulations, not the final regulations. In
anal yzing the requirenent of the Adm nistrative Procedure
Act for notice and coment, the court rejected the
argunent that the situation fell wthin the "good cause"
exenption contained in 5 U S.C § 553(b)(3)(B). After
considering legislative history as well as law fromthis
circuit, the district court concluded that the good cause
exenption applies only in narrow circunstances where the
facts and interests are such that notice and comment is
| npossi ble or mani festly unnecessary. The court rejected
the Secretary's argunent t hat ninety days was
insufficient to solicit public coments, review them and
pronmul gate final regulations. Li kewi se, the court
rejected the Secretary's argunent that the good cause
exenption applied because the interim regulations
obvi ated uncertainty on the part of enployers, enployees,
and polygraph exam ners concerning the scope of the
statutory coverage and the exenptions. The court held
that the regulations were pronulgated w thout public
participation under 8§ 553(b)(3)(B), and therefore, were
invalid. The district court set aside the decision of
the Secretary and entered judgnent in favor of Rapid
Robert's. The Secretary did not appeal.

Thereafter, Rapid Robert's applied for attorneys'
fees under the Equal Access to Justice Act, 28 U S.C 8§
2412 (1997). The court found that Rapid Robert's was the
prevailing party under the Act, that the Secretary of
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Labor's position in the litigation was not substantially
justified, and that the award of attorneys' fees and
expenses was proper.

The district court's decision to set aside the
Secretary's decision and enter judgnent in favor of Rapid
Robert's is not in issue. It was not appeal ed, and the
Secretary concedes that no issue is raised concerning its
propriety. The only issue before us is the propriety of
the attorneys' fee award. The district court held that
t he



Departnent |acked substantial justification for its
position sinply because it lost on the nerits. For the
nost part, both parties on appeal battle over the
gquestion of whether the issuance of the interim
regul ati ons wi thout notice and comment was such that it
could not be defended. The governnent al so argues that
Its position was substantially justified because the
pursuit of penalties against Rapid Robert's was primarily
based on violations of the statute and not the interim
regul ati ons.

Wiile the parties have vigorously asserted their
positions with respect to the propriety of the interim
regul ations, we need not tread that sensitive ground to
reach the issue of attorneys' fees. Under the Equa
Access to Justice Act, the court should deny an award of
attorneys' fees not only when the governnent's position
Is substantially justified but also when "special
circunstances make an award unjust.” 28 U S.C 8§
2412(d) (1) (A) .

The district court's decision concerning an
application for fees under the EAJA is reviewed for abuse
of discretion. S.E.C.__v. Kluesner, 834 F.2d 1438, 1439
(8th Cir. 1987). Under this standard, the district
court's conclusions of |aw are reviewabl e under a de novo
basis, and its factual findings are reviewed for clear
error. ld. at 1439-40.

In explaining the "special circunstances" exception,
t he House Report acconpanying the EAJA stated:

Furt hernore, the Governnent should not be held
| i abl e where "special circunstances would nake
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an award unjust." This "safety valve" helps to
I nsure that the Governnment is not deterred from
advancing in good faith the novel but credible
extensions and interpretations of the |aw that
often underlie vigorous enforcenent efforts. It
al so gives the court discretion to deny awards
where equi tabl e considerations dictate an award
shoul d not be nmade.
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H R Rep. No. 1418, 96th Cong., 2d Sess. at 11, reprinted
in 1980 U S.CC A N 4953, 4990. "The EAJA thus
explicitly directs a court to apply traditional equitable
principles in ruling upon an application for counsel fees
by a prevailing party." Oguachuba v. INS, 706 F.2d 93,
98 (2d Cir. 1983).

Relying on this direction, courts have denied
attorneys' fees in a nunber of different situations. For
exanple, in Qguachuba, the Second Circuit wupheld the
district court's denial of attorneys' fees to an
applicant who, because of a technical error by the INS,
prevailed on a petition for wit of habeas corpus despite
having repeatedly violated federal immgration laws. 1d.
at 99. In reaching its result, the appellate court found
the petitioner to be "without clean hands." 1d.; see
also Taylor v. United States, 815 F.2d 249 (3rd Cr.
1987) (denying attorneys' fees under EAJA where applicant
for fees took advantage of unlawful governnent action but
then challenged that action to avoid serving valid
mans| aught er convi ction).

In United States v. 27.09 Acres of lLand in Town of
Harrison, 43 F.3d 769 (2d Cr. 1994), an otherw se
eligible and prevailing party was denied attorneys' fees
because it did not substantially contribute to the
successful phase of the |litigation. ld. at 775.
Purporting to apply general equitable principles, the
Second Circuit reasoned that "where one or nore
i neligible parties are wlling and able to pursue the
litigation against the United States, the parties
eligible for EAJA fees should not be able to take a free
ride through the judicial process at the governnent's
expense." |d. (quotation and citation omtted).
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The circunstances surrounding the present case
simlarly demand that attorneys' fees be denied. The
governnent argues that, regardless of the validity of the
interim regulations, Rapid Robert's commtted several
violations of the statute itself. These statutory
vi ol ati ons have gone unpunished as the result of the
district court's order setting aside the Secretary of
Labor's deci sion.
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The governnent did not argue the statutory basis of
the penalties before the district court, and ordinarily
we do not consider issues raised for the first tinme on

appeal . See Mller v. Federal Energency Mnagenent
Agency, 57 F.3d 687 (8th Cr. 1995). This general rule,
however, is not absolute. As the Suprene Court has
st at ed,

The matter of what questions may be taken up and
resolved for the first tinme of appeal is one
|l eft primarily to the discretion of the courts
of appeals, to be exercised on the facts of
I ndi vi dual cases. W announce no general rule.
Certainly there are circunstances in which a
f eder al appel late court Is justified in
resol ving an i ssue not passed on bel ow, as where
the proper resolution is beyond any doubt, or
where injustice mght otherwi se result.

Singleton v. Wilff, 428 U S. 106, 121 (1975) (quotations
and citations omtted).

This court has applied an exception to the general
rule where "the obvious result of followng the rule
would be a plain mscarriage of justice or would be
I nconsistent wth substantial justice." Seniority
Research Goup v. Chrysler Mtor Corp., 976 F.2d 1185,
1187 (8th Cir. 1992). W believe this exception applies
her e.

Rapi d Robert's direct violations of the statutory
provisions are outlined in detail in the ALJ's order. As
a result, the record on the issue is well-devel oped and
anenable to our review The Secretary briefed and argued
the statutory basis for the penalties, and Rapid Robert's
had the opportunity to respond. Therefore, it is
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appropriate for us to consider whether Rapid Robert's
relief from valid statutory penalties constitutes a
special circunmstance which would nmake an award of
attorneys' fees unjust.

Wiile the district court focused exclusively on the
validity of the interimregulations, the vast majority of
the penalties levied against Rapid Robert's were for
direct violations of statutory provisions.
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An analysis of the adm nistrative |aw judge's order
reveals that the only violations which depended on the
regul ations were those related to the failure to give 48-
hour advance notification of testing. See 29 CF. R 8§
801.12(g)(2). Because the statutory |anguage specifies
only that witten notice be provided before the pol ygraph
test, the 48-hour tinme franme was derived purely fromthe
interim regulations. See 29 US C 8§ 2006(d)(4).
Ther ef or e, wi t hout t he interim regulation, t he
adm ni strative law judge could not conclude that Rapid
Robert's did not give witten notice sufficiently in
advance of testing.

The other violations were based on requirenents
plainly set forth in the statute. The admnistrative |aw
judge found fifteen violations related to the content of
the witten notices provided by Rapid Robert's to its
enpl oyees. Nanely, the witten notices did not set
"forth with particularity the specific incident or
activity being investigated" as required by 29 U S.C. 8§
2006(d)(4)(A) and did not describe "the basis of the
enpl oyer's reasonable suspicion' as required by 29
US C 8§ 2006(d)(4)(Dy(iti). Rapid Robert's argues that
the interimregul ations provided a detailed description
of "reasonabl e suspicion.” See 29 CF.R § 801.12(9g)(3)
(Interim 1989). The adm nistrative |aw judge, however,
referred primarily to a line of Suprene Court decisions
to determne the neaning of "reasonable suspicion.”
Thus, he did not rely on regulatory | anguage to interpret
the statutory requirenments or to ascertain that those
requi renents had been viol at ed.

Rapid Robert's was also held accountable for six
viol ations involving unlawful threats in conjunction wth
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pol ygraph exam nations and for three violations involving
unl awf ul enpl oyee suspensions. Wile the admnnistrative
| aw judge found that Rapid Robert's violated both the
statute and the regulations in these instances, only the
statutory | anguage was necessary to find the violations
as the statutory and regul atory provisions were virtually
identical. Conpare 29 U S.C. 88 2002(3)(A), 2002(4)(0O,

-16-



with 29 CF.R 8§ 801.4(a)(3). Therefore, Rapid Robert's
was in clear violation of the statute regardl ess of the
validity of the interimregulations.?

When the district court set aside the decision of the
Secretary of Labor, the court released Rapid Robert's
fromall penalties, not just those rooted in regulatory
vi ol ati ons. Consequently, Rapid Robert's recognized a
substantial benefit beyond nere relief fromthe interim
regul ati ons. For the seven violations of the 48-hour
advance notice requirenent, the admnistrative | aw judge
| evied penalties totaling $3500. The remaining $22, 500
in penalties were |evied for other violations which, as
di scussed above, stemmed from clear violations of the
statute.

VWiile we may not disrupt the district court's
di sposition on the nerits, the consequence of that
di sposition is a factor in weighing the equities of
awar di ng attorneys' fees. Here, the district court
relieved Rapid Robert's of over seven tines the anount of
penalties which actually resulted from the invalidated

regul ati ons. Rapi d Robert's has reaped a w ndfall by
escaping its duty to pay for clear violations of a valid
statute. To add to that wndfall by requiring the

governnent to pay attorneys' fees and expenses woul d be

?In its brief, Rapid Robert's argues that 88 801.40-.43 of the interim
regulations dictated the procedures for enforcement actions and the assessment of
penalties under the Employee Polygraph Protection Act. The Administrative
Procedure Act, however, provides that rules of agency procedure or practice are
exempt from the requirements of notice and hearing. 5 U.S.C. 8§ 553(b)(3)(A)
(1997). Thus, the validity of the enforcement procedures contained in the interim
regulations was never at issue.
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patently unjust. We conclude that the district court
abused its discretion by failing to find special
circunstances in this case.

We reverse the district court's order.
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